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100 HISTORY OF BEVERLY HILLS

succeeded by Rev. Arthur Lee Odell, D.D., who in turn was followed by Rev.
Ernest M. House as pastor in 1933.

The first structure to rise in Beverly Hills, however, was not the one
aforementioned but was the Church of the Good Shepherd, center of Roman
Catholic life in the city, with its stained glass window of the Virgin recall-
ing the household shrine of Dona Maria Rita Valdez de Villa.

The Right Reverend Bishop John J. Cantwell assigned Rev. Michael J.
Mullins, who had been serving as chaplain of the Catholic Motion Picture
Guild, and who as a chaplain overseas had ministered to the first American
officer killed in the war, to organize a parish in this city.

Father Mullins began work immediately, and the first Mass was cele-
brated December 12, 1923, in the Windemere Apartments. Shortly there-
after, services were conducted for a time in a small rectory on Camden Drive,
until space there proved inadequate, whereupon arrangements were made to
hold services at the Beverly Hills Hotel, alternating hours on Sunday with
the Episcopal congregation.

On Christmas day, 1924, the new mission-style church, with its altars
the gift of Jackie Coogan, was dedicated at a solemn high midnight Mass.
In the rear of the church is the rectory, facing on Bedford Drive. Nearby,
on Roxbury Drive, is the convent for the nuns that conduct the parochial
school.

The First Church of Christ, Scientist organized March 27, 1923, as a
branch of the Mother Church of Christ ’Scientist,r in Boston, was incorpo-
rated September 12, 1924, under the laws of the state.

Its first services were held here in Berkeley Hall, 800 North Swall Drive,
while a reading room wag established at 33114 N. Beverly Drive. Follow-
ing the purchase of five lots a¢ Rexford Driv/e and Charleville Boulevard, a
fine church building capable of seating 1000 persons was completed early in
1928. Reading rooms were moved sevfral ea:I')s ago to 335 N. Beverly Drive.

Architecturally speaking, with o viewyto the harmonious fitness for the
setting and for the purpose desired, the All Saints Episcopal Church build-
iﬁg ;t 'Zhe con}erdof Camden Drive ’and Santa Monica Boulevard is probably
the best conceived in the ¢ . . immediately appar-
ent to the average passerb;fty, although its merits are not 1M y appa

Episcopal services in Bevyer i the time Catholic activ-
ity started. The first rector wasl{{gﬂit}f;gra? %)3:,:5, and members attended
services at the Beverly Hills Hotel ‘;hrou h t'h e courtesy of Mrs. Margaret
J. Anderson, until finally the chyrch, buildgin was completed and dedication
held on Easter Sunday of 1925 Rev. Evans %ontinued his fine work as rector
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until his. dgath in December, 1928. He was succeeded by the present rector,
Rev. \'V'llham W. Fleetwood. The church owns all its property, including a
lot on either side of the building, free of encumbrance.

Starting November 14, 1926, with only 17 in the Sunday school and six
for the morning worship service, St. Luke’s Community Methodist Episcopal
Church made its beginning in Beverly Hills at 8822 W. Pico Boulevard,
with Rev. Arthur F. Wahlquist as the first pastor.

The Methodist Board of Home Missions purchased three lots at Rob-
ertson Boulevard and Whitworth Drive the same year for $17,000 and do-
nated $4000 toward building the church. The auditorium of a Los Angeles
church was moved to the site, and with a classroom addition in the rear, the
structure was dedicated May 22, 1927, by Rev. L. T. Guild, superintendent
of the Los Angeles district. Building plans are yet uncompleted.

The name has since been changed to Robertson Boulevard Methodist Epis-
copal Community Church. In 1928 Rev. Wahiquist was succeeded as pas-
tor by Rev. Waldo S. Reinoehl, who was followed in 1929 by Rev. Frederick
J. Oaten. The present pastor is Rev. Charles S. Kendall.

Another active church body in the city is the Beverly Vista Community
Church, formally organized with 64 members in October of 1927. Sunday
school and devotional services were held in the auditorium of the Beverly
Vista School until the church building was opened on June 24, 1928. Rev.
J. K. Stewart was pastor during its formative period and still occupies that
position.

The building was erected at Elm Drive and Gregory Way, financed by
local contributions, a $25,000 appropriation from the United Presbyterian
Board of Erection, and a $6,000 loan from that body. Only the first unit
of the planned church plant has been completed, at a cost of $50,000.

Two other nearby churches draw many members from Beverly Hills.
The first is the Beverly Hills Lutheran Church, which meets in the Marquis
Theater Building, with Rev. G. L. Hudson as pastor; and the other is the
Beverly Christian Church, at Third Street and Las Palmas, with Dr. Cleve-
land Kleihauer as pastor.

CHAPTER XXIII
PUBLICATIONS

. Three publications in Beverly Hills are worthy of historical record, each
different and each outstanding in its particular field.
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The first is the Beverly Hills Citizen which has received high praise from
all over the country as being an outstanding representative in the weekly news-
paper field. The second is Rob Wagner’s Script, a lively week!y magazine,
with an imposing list of important contributors. And the last is a monfhly
called The Magazine, known to only a few in Beverly Hills, but with a nation-
wide reputation among the so-called “little magazines.”

The Beverly Hills Citizen, perhaps more than any other sin.gle agency,
has been responsible for the upbuilding of Beverly Hills. Its history since
its founding in 1923 has been the history of the city, and since that first year

it has carried a front page “ear” with the legend: “A Home Paper, Printed
for Home Folk, By Home People, in a Home Plant.”

The Citizen had been preceded shortly by the Beverly Hills News, edited
and published by Al Murphy, who had a linotype in the Kennedy-Camfield
building where news items were set up to be printed outside the city. Murphy’s
stand in the annexation fight, however, brought against him the charge of
having “sold out” the city to the Rodeo Land and Water Company.

Consequently a group of citizens, desiring to have a representative news-
paper established to work for the good of the community, promised their
support to Kenneth Miles. Under his editorship the first issue of the Beverly
Hills Citizen appeared in magazine form on May 9, 1923.

The financial aid promised to the young publication was not forthcoming,
however, and about nine months later George R. Barker, its present editor
and publisher, an experienced newspaperman who had beeen looking for an
opening on the Pacific Coast, took over the magazine’s name and goodwill. He
changed it to a tabloid-size newspaper, printed on book stock, and established

the pioneer printing establishment in the city.

The shop at 460 N. Rodeo Drive was equipped, at first, with a linotype

machine, a job press, an Optimus press, and an assortment of type. The Op-

timus press printed only four pages at a time, requiring 10 runs to put out a
40-page paper. :

In 1928 the Citizen
Rodeo Drive.
added at interv

Rob Wa
Desiring, for

plant was moved to its present location at 322 N,
The plant has grown with the city, modern equipment being
als, and today five publications are printed in the ShQP-

gner began his magazine as a quixotic experience in journalism,
. a time at least, to call a halt on movie bell-ringing for the na-
tional magazines, he decided to start a weekly paper in some desert town such
as Indio, and to have a lot of fun with imaginary characters. But Charlje

Chaplin advised him to begin right here in Beverly Hills, where he wouldn’t
have to invent characters.
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Refusing Chaplin’s offer of $30,000 to start the magazine, Wagner
made other plans; then calling upon his friends in the writing craft for contri-
butions, he set out on an amazing venture, planning to keep it going just so
long as he could pay the printer’s bill each week. The first issue appeared as
a brawling infant on February 16, 1929, and the magazine is now entering
upon its sixth year as a lusty child. From a local magazine it has grown to
national proportions.

The first issue of The Magazine appeared in November, 1933, with a
staff consisting of John McAllister, Richard Perry, Fred Kuhlman and Art
Rothman. Its purpose has been to serve as a journal of contemporary writ-
ing, as one of the “little magazines” publishing stories and poetry that slowly
are bringing a change in the literary world. The magazine has published
such poets as C. Day Lewis, J. V. Cunningham, Janet Lewis and Yvor Win-
ters, and such fictionists as Josephine Herbst and Achilles Holt. The maga-
zine’s future still lies ahead, but its establishment here in Beverly Hills is
deeply significant.

CHAMBER OF COMMERCE

Attended by 60 individuals rallying to the call of Seth W. P. Sterlinger
and Frank Denison, the first meeting of the Chamber of Commerce was held
May 1, 1923.

Shortly thereafter, Strelinger was elected the first president and Denison
assumed office as secretary. Since that time the chamber has acted as a
community clearing house.

Among the organization’s major activities may be listed the anm.Jal com-
pilation of a free city directory and telephone book, the administration o'f a
strong merchant’s association, and the sponsoring of ideas for the city’s im-
provement. _

The chamber has been active in surveys and activity to reduce taxes, to

‘effect changes in city ordinances, and to bring improvement ideas before the
city council. It backed the civic center idea, aided City Attorney Waltz in
the fight to get telephone rate reduction, initiated the movement for the with-
drawal of the high school from the Los Angeles system, and has staged many
community events. “Beverly Hills On Parade” celebrations, designed to aid
in making the city a shopping center, have recently featured its activity. It
has secured a tremendous amount of legitimate publicity throughout the world
through the media of the seven great newspaper syndicates.

Following Frank Denison’s term as secretary, M. C. Moore was secre-
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tary-manager for a time, until the chamber’s incorporation in July, 1923,
when B. J. Firminger became secretary-manager. In April of the next year
Gene Sanders succeeded Firminger, who became city clerk. Sanders was fol-
lowed in 1928 by R. Ellis Wales, who left in 1930 to do promotion work and
then was recalled to the position in February of 1932, Ralph Wade serving as
secretary-manager in the interim. Henry A. Mortson succeeded Wales this
year.

Several months after its organization, a mass meeting of business men
and merchants was called and the chamber was re-organized along more
equitable lines. Thereafter, the following served in order as president: W. E.
Woods, J. L. Kennedy, Ralph Schull, A. C. Heegard, Harrison Lewis, Rich-
ard Hargreaves, Ed Newman, John R. Scantlin, Frank Burnaby, William
Brandt, Milo Bekins and Charles Griffin.

BEVERLY HILLS BAR ASSOCIATION

On the second day of December, 1931, a small group of attorneys main-
taining offices in Beverly Hills gathered to organize formally the Beverly Hills
Bar Association. Those present were: Jesse E. Jacobson, John A. Wallis,
C. E. Spencer, E. E. Noon, Samuel R. Enfield, Charles J. Griffin, Ralph F.
Bagley, Leslie L. Heap, Charles E. Quirollo, Arthur L. Erb and A. Curtis
Smith.

In addition to the foregoing, H. Edward Alton, J. W. Mullin, William
B. Barton, John A. Wallis and Richard C. Waltz signed the constitution as
charter members.

Arthur L. Erb was selected as the first president of the group, in rec-
ognition of his active service for the welfare of Beverly Hills since his com-
ing here to open the first attorney’s offices in the city. He was followed by
E. E. Noon to the presidency, who was succeeded by the present head, Rich-
ard C. Waltz. Other officers at present are H. E. Alton as vice-president and
A. Curtis Smith as secretary and treasurer. The membership totals 22.

Since its organization the association has attempted to keep strictly out
of politics and to work for the betterment of the bar. Many useful changes
in court organization and in legislation can be traced directly to the activities
of the association and its members.
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BEVERLY HILLS REALTY BOARD

For the purpose of forming a realty board, 32 men gathered for dinner
at the Beverly Hills Hotel in Nevember of 1922. These included nearly all
of the reputable realtors in Beverly Hills at that time. Sidney C. Rowe was
elected president, and other officers were Leland P. Reeder, vice president;
J. A. Cornelius, secretary; Harrison Lewis, treasurer, and Larry Blaisdel,
N. W. Burns, J. L. Kennedy, J. L. Ross and A. B. Salisbury, directors.

Besides the above miembers, charter members consisted of M. D. Allen,
Eugene Barton, K. A. Brainard, \V. C. Campbell, Ernest Chase, F. B. Criss-
man, M. G. Cummings, W. G. Davis, B. :A. Dixon, Z. D. Ells, Fred A. Glei-
forst, W. V. Goar, Fred W. Hogue, J. R. Hutchison, K. B. Keith, D. A.
Kirk, F. H. Lloyde, Leslie Mason, G. L. Phillips, W. A. Reeder, Clark Rey-
nolds, Frank Reynolds, F. K. Rockett and Karl B. Schurz.

An item from the minute book of the first year is of interest. “Decem-
ber 13, 1922: Harrison Lewis stated that every known record for selling lots
in this part of the country had been broken when, through the combined
efforts of all the firms in Beverly Hills, over half a million dollars worth of
property had been sold in the short space of three days.” _

During the last of December, while the annexation fight was at its height,
a vote of realty board members revealed 21 in favor of joining Los Angeles.
J. L. Kennedy was the only member of the board to come out strongly in
favor of maintaining Beverly Hills as a separate city. Steve Glassell, a non-
board member, also was vigorously against annexation.

Will Rogers suggested the name “Escrow Indians” for local realtors,
and used the name in his picture, “T'wo Wagons—Both Covered,” wherein
early California settlers were depicted as being ambushed by the Escrow In-
dians waving fountain pens and contract blanks instead of tomahawks. The
Escrow Indian Tribe was formed in Beverly Hills, furnishing many colorful
episodes in community life.

One hundred strong, decked in full regalia, with a head-dress of multi-
colored feathers advertising the city as “The Heart of the Next Million,”
the braves descended upon the state real estate convention at Pasadena, October
1924, and took the session by storm.

One group, dropping bonnets and war clubs and seizing midirons and
putters, invaded the golf course and added the silver trophy for the state
realtors championship to their collection of scalps. Incidentally, a local realty
board team has won the trophy nearly every year since.

The Escrow Indians even had a war chant, written by J. S. Stephenson
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and Richard Colburn, with its chorus:
Papoose run loose
In Beverly Hills;
Big squaw heap movie star;
Big chief, much grief,
He pay all the bills;
Squaw ride’'m Packard car.

How, how! Pow wow! You all come see
Heap big town of Bev-er-ly.

In the early days, the annual realty board hi-jinx was a bright spot of
the year. The first was held in 1922 on the site that is now the fourth hole
of the Bel-Air golf course. All Beverly Hills turned out for the barbecue,
which was followed by games, prize fights, whippet races, and vaudeville.
Karl Schurz was Cheese of Police for the occasion, and during the baseball
game he saved the day for his side by arresting an opposing player who stole
third base. Bill Reeder was master of ceremonies, and Ruth Hubbard and
Ethel Clayton came togged out as “Faro Nells.”

Following Sidney C. Rowe’s two-year term as president of the realty
board, the various officers under the rotation plan have been Leland P. Reeder,
Charles P. Haswell, 'Harry A. Mortson, James A. Cornelius, Clark Reynolds,
G. M. Griffith, William B. Collier, James V. Westervelt, George W. Elkins,
John P. Prendergast and the present head, Karl B. Schurz.

Under the three-way association plan, every member of the board is also
a member of the state and national associations. Stress is laid upon commu-
nity development through ethical methods in all transactions. The highest peak

in membership was attained in 1926-27, when 70 brokers and 25 salesmen
were enrolled.

CHAPTER XXIV

BEVERLY HILLS WOMEN’S CLUB

. To the Beverly Hills Women’s Club must be given great credit as a
c'1vic agency, ever ready to carry more than its designated load, in coopera-
tion with other organizations, for the formation of a spirited and unified
Beverly Hills.

The history of the club is the fulfillment of the promise written in its
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annals: “The objects of this club shall be advancement in all lines of general
culture, the opportunity for social service, and the upbuilding of a community
spirit.”

Forty women meeting at the home of Mrs. Lowell C. Frost in December
of 1916 formed the club, outlining its purpose as a medium through which
strangers in the new community might have the opportunity for social con-
tacts and service.

When the United States entered the war shortly thereafter, the group

became a Red Cross unit, with prompt accomplishment to its credit. Mrs.
Force Parker acted as chairman during these years.

In 1919 the club was formally organized, constitution and by-laws
drafted and officers elected, Mrs. Edmund Locke being chosen as president.
From this time on a club consciousness developed, together with the urge to
become an integral part of the community. Two years later Mrs. Jay B.
Millard became president, and under her leadership during the next five years
the club’s policies and interests widened. The desire for a club house was
crystallized and actuated. In 1924 the club joined the General Federation of
Women’s Clubs, banding with three million other women in working for
higher standards of living, in urging wise legislation and enforcement, and in
upholding American citizenship.

Then in October, 1925, the vision of Mrs. Millard—now president emer-
itus—was realized with the opening of the new club house, culminating the
efforts of the club’s members. Previously club meetings had been held at
the homes of the various members.

Through the ensuing years, each of the five administrations to follow,
headed in turn for two years by Mrs. Norman A. Pabst, Mrs. Jerome Canavan,
Mrs. Karl F. Murdock, Mrs. Noel M. Hooker, and Mrs. Charles F. Nelson,
had its own problems to solve and adjustments to make. .

At the two regular meetings each month, following business and discus-
sion, the club members enjoy programs presented to please a variety of tas‘fes.
In addition, special club sections enlarge the clut.)’s‘ cultu'ral scope by offering
opportunity for study and expression along specialized lines. .

The Drama Section, the first to be organized, in 1922, functiorfs in the
manner of a workshop, with members reading, studying anc‘! producing St}ch
plays as are suitable for the club’s stage. In 1925 a plgy written by Maurine
Gee and titled “The Delicate Child,” won first award in the General Ffadera-
tion Playwriting Contest and was produced for the national convention at
Atlantic City. o o

The Current Events Section, likewise originated in 1922, has distin-
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guished itself through the years by presenting Aline Barrett Greenwood in
a series of current event talks.

In 1923 two new activities were added : the Junior Auxiliary, providing
a separate group for young women, and the Tuesday Afternoon Section, now
called the Monday Seminar,which creates club interests and friendships among
young matrons.

The French Section, also dating from that year, has proved a definite
cultural asset, as has the Music Section, beginning in 1924 as the music com-
mittee, which offers opportunities in music appreciation and sponsors the club

chorus which won second place in the Los Angeles District Chorus Contest
in 1934.

Another section formed in 1924 deals with books and current literature.
This group in 1929 compiled and published the cook book, “Fashions in
Foods,” in Beverly Hills, including favorite recipes of local celebrities, with
a foreword by Will Rogers in his best manner.

A section on child welfare was organized in 1926 but was short-lived,
since it repeated in part the work of the Parent-Teacher’s Association. In
1927, when membership increased rapidly, the Round Table meetings came
into being for the purpose of assimilating the newcomers into active member-
ship. The Round Table disbanded four years later, its purpose fulfilled.

About this time the Art Committee, which fosters the study and appre-
ciation of art and arranges monthly art exhibits, came into being. In 1929
an Applied Psychology Section was organized to meet the need created by

the world depression. Persistent requests resulted in the formation of a
Bible Section in 1934.

One other important activity should be mentioned — that of securing
worthwhile motion pictures for juvenile audiences. In 1926 the club collabo-
rated with the motion picture department of the district federation in in-
stituting junior matinees in Beverly Hills.

Conceived in the spirit of Americanism and service, the club has held
faithfully to its tradition. Its Needlework Guild, which last year put 1070
new garments to good use, dates back to 1921. Tts Scholarship Loan Fund,
founded in 1927, enables one or more girls to attend college each year. Its
Annual Rummage Sale, initiated in 1931, has been of real philanthropic worth.

Through all these various activities, club unity has always prevailed,

living up to the motto over the fireplace in the clubhouse: “One feast, one
house, one mutual happiness.”
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CHAPTER XXV

BEVERLY HILLS COMMUNITY PLAYERS

With literary, dramatic, musical and social advancement as the incentive,
the Beverly Hills Community Players came into being as the outgrowth of
the drama section of the Beverly Hills Woman’s Club.

Besieged by non-members of the club to form a dramatic group where
all talents of Beverly Hills might meet as one, Irene Hunt Weyman, chair-
man of the section, suggested the foundation of the community players.

The first meeting was held at Mrs. Weyman’s house on February 7,
1928, where plans for the organization were made, Mrs. Weyman being ap-
pointed president, Mrs. Randolph Carter, vice-president, while the founders
and directors included Edward Hummel, William Hunnewell, Wanda Davis
Phillips, Edward Newman, Raymond Haun, Maurine Gee, Harry Werner,
France Dillon, Earl Jameson,.]J. H. Stewart, Betty Hooper, Harry Beau-
mont, Lon Haddock, Betty Kirby, Mrs. Frank Richmond and Mrs. Josiah
Kirby. _

Plans were laid for a workshop group to present three one-act plays a
month, and for the players as a whole to produce a major three-act play every
two months. The first one-act play was Christopher Morley’s “The Book-
shelf,” presented in March under the supervision of Mrs. Randolph Carter,
who later resigned her position and was succeeded by Golda Madden Craig.
In June, under the direction of Irene Hunt Weyman, the first three-act play
was produced, “Kempy”, with Patsy Ruth Miller playing the leading femi-
nine role and with Leslie Pearce directing. The elite of the city supported
this production, subscribing as patrons and patronesses of the organization.

After the first year, during which the idea of a community players group
proved successful, a nervous breakdown prevented Mrs. Weyman from con-
tinuing as president, and Golda Madden Craig succeeded to that position.

Previously grammar school auditoriums had been used for productions,
but in November of 1929 the need for a more permanent home was felt. An
old Beverly Hills fire house, facing upon an alley, was chosen and christened
“The Barn”, and members donned overalls and smocks to prepare it for
use.

A children’s group was added to workshop activities, with Mrs. Ruth
Lipton serving as chairman, to direct the production of three one-act plays
each month.

As the organization grew rapidly, “The Barn” soon proved inadequate;
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so the next move of the community players was from the alley to the top
floor of the California Bank Building. This was the “Little Theater of
the Stars”, seating only 50 people, and at each performance crowds had to
be turned away. Each year the community players have entered the Santa
Ana Play Tournament, and each year have succeeded in winning an award.

With the addition of a “bandbox” group, sponsored by Irene Hunt Wey-
man and Joan Blackmore, an opportunity was provided for the inexperienced

to act, try out new plays, and learn voice, diction and make-up. Three plays
were presented a month.

On June 17, 1931, Golda Madden Craig ended her term as president, and
Charles Griffin succeeded to her chair. Soon the Little Theater of the Stars
was outgrown. The players then took a lease on a building which they re-
modeled for theater purposes at 244 S. Robertson Boulevard. Opera chairs
for the first time took the place of rough benches, and seating capacity was
provided for 200 persons. Dressing and rehearsal rooms were fitted out, to-
gether with a green room for the players, and all activities took place under
the same roof. Mrs. Don Marquis contributed several artistic plays that drew
“rane”’ notices in the newspapers.

Then came the depression, and when Charles Griffin’s constructive period
as president ended in June of 1933, he was succeeded by Marie A. Dodge,
who determined to clear up the deficit of $600 through a series of dances and
parties in addition to the plays. At the present time plays are given at the
Beverly Vista School auditorium, the Robertson playhouse having been va-
cated.

The two finest plays presented by the local group were “Allison’s House”
and “Bitter Harvest.” The latest play, “World Wihtuot End,” one of the
most pretentious attempted, promises to be equally successful.

Other major three-act plays produced included: “Behold the Bride-
groom,” “Interference,” “Concerning Emily,” “Hay Fever,” “The New
Poor,” “This Thing Called Love,” “Intimate Stranger,” “The Closed Door,”
“In the Spirit,” “The Wisdom Tooth,” “Job,” “Insult,” ‘“Heading for

Heaven,” “The House of Magic,” “Engaged,” “Listening In,” and “Reno—
Change Sleepers.”

BEVERLY HILLS MEN’S CLUB

As a counterpart of the Women’s Club, the Beverly Hills Men’s Club
was organized in 1927, with the late Lon J. Haddock as its moving spirit,
the first meeting taking place on April 13.
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